# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-TS-00122

### **RAY FOUNTAIN**

APPELLANT

CASE NO. 2009-TS-00122

VS.

### SKL INVESTMENTS, INC. AND ALTON HALL

APPELLEES

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2007-449

### BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

## CHRISTOPHER H. NEYLAND

(MSB # NEYLAND LAW FIRM, PLLC 103 AVERY FOREST CANTON, MS 39046 TELEPHONE: (601) 718-0929 FACSIMLE: (601) 949-3399 Attorney for Appellant

Oral argument is not requested.

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2009-TS-00122

### RAY FOUNTAIN

APPELLANT

**APPELLEES**

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing this action on a motion to dismiss prior to a hearing on the merits of the Complaint.
- 2. Whether the Chancery Court erred in holding that the Purchase Contract was just an offer from SKL, and that Ray Fountain had to accept this offer prior to February 23, 2007, in order for a binding contract to exist between these parties.

1.

ί.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On January 23, 2007, Ray Fountain (hereinafter, at times, "Mr. Fountain") entered into a Purchase Contract with SKL Investments, Inc. (hereinafter, at times, "SKL"), for the purchase of real property, located in Adams County, Mississippi at #1 Cornell Street, Natchez, Mississippi. The purchase price of the property was \$3,000.00, payable in ten monthly installments of \$300.00 each. Mr. Fountain tendered the first installment payment of \$300.00 on January 22, 2007, as stated in the Purchase Contract (Record, page 7).

The Purchase Contract states that the monthly installments would be due on the 23<sup>rd</sup> day of each month, and specifically states "with the next monthly payment being due on or before <u>February 23, 2007</u>." (Record, page 5). The Purchase Contract also specifically states that there is a late fee of \$25.00 for any payment not received within 10 days of the due date of the payment, and specifically states that if a payment is not received within 30 days of the due date, that Mr. Fountain would be in default and the contract "will be a nullity at seller's option". (Record, page 5). The Purchase Contract goes on to state that SKL will issue a quitclaim deed to Mr. Fountain upon the receipt of the final payment from Mr. Fountain. (Record, p. 6).

This agreement between Mr. Fountain and SKL was entered into prior to January 23, 2007, and the Purchase Contract memorialized the previous agreement of the parties. The Purchase Agreement was drafted by SKL, signed by SKL on January 23, 2007, mailed to Mr. Fountain, and signed by Mr. Fountain on February 28, 2007, which was also the date that he mailed his February payment to SKL. This February payment was received and accepted by SKL.

On March 19, 2007, Mr. Fountain had his March payment hand delivered to SKL. This

March payment was received by SKL and accepted by SKL. (Record, page 10).

On March 28, 2007, SKL conveyed by Quitclaim Deed all of its right, title and interest to the property in question to Alton Hall. This conveyance was pursuant to a contract between SKL and Mr. Hall, which was entered into after the Purchase Contract was entered into between Mr. Fountain and SKL.

On June 22, 2007, Mr. Fountain filed his Complaint for Specific Performance and Damages. The Complaint was served on both SKL and Mr. Hall, and both SKL and Mr. Hall answered the Complaint and both filed counter-claims against Mr. Fountain. Mr. Fountain answered both counter-claims, and responded to the discovery propounded by Mr. Hall. On March 6, 2008, a notice of trial was filed, setting the matter for trial on April 21, 2008 and continuing to April 22, 2008. A second Notice of Trial was filed on May 23, 2008, setting the matter for trial on June 30, 2008 and continuing to July 1, 2008. On June 17, 2008, a third Notice of Trial was filed, setting the matter for trial on June 17, 2008, a third

On July 3, 2008, a Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by Mr. Hall. Also on July 3, 2008, a Withdrawal of Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by Mr. Hall. On August 18, 2008, SKL filed a Memorandum Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to MRCP 12(b)(6).

The Chancery Court held a hearing on a Motion to Dismiss, and after argument by counsel, but no testimony, the Court granted the Motion to Dismiss, holding that SKL had made acceptance of the Purchase Contract by February 23, 2007 a condition of its offer to Plaintiff. Judgment was entered on December 23, 2008. Mr. Fountain, by and through counsel, timely filed his Notice of Appeal and Designation of the Record on January 21, 2009.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ray Fountain entered into an agreement with SKL Investments, Inc., for the purchase of real property, located in Adams County, Mississippi at #1 Cornell Street, Natchez, Mississippi. The purchase price of the property was \$3,000.00, payable in ten monthly installments of \$300.00 each. Mr. Fountain tendered the first installment payment of \$300.00 on January 22, 2007, as stated in the Purchase Contract (Record, page 7). SKL received and accepted this payment. (Record, page 7)

After the parties had agreed upon the terms of the purchase of this real property, SKL drafted a Purchase Contract which memorialized the agreement of the parties. SKL signed the Purchase Agreement, dated it as signed on January 23, 2007, and mailed it to Mr. Fountain. There is no evidence as to when it was mailed by SKL to Mr. Fountain, nor was there any testimony as to when it was received by Mr. Fountain.

The Purchase Contract states that the monthly installments would be due on the 23<sup>rd</sup> day of each month, and specifically states that "with the next monthly payment being due on or before <u>February 23, 2007</u>." (Record, page 5). The Purchase Contract also specifically states that there is a late fee of \$25.00 for any payment not received within 10 days of the due date of the payment, and specifically states that if a payment is not received within 30 days of the due date, that Mr. Fountain would be in default and the contract "will be a nullity at seller's option". (Record, page 5). The Purchase Contract goes on to state that SKL will issue a quitclaim deed to Mr. Fountain upon the receipt of the final payment from Mr. Fountain. (Record, p. 6).

The Purchase Contract makes no statement that Mr. Fountain must accept its terms in writing. It makes no statement as to when Mr. Fountain must return the signed contract to SKL. The Purchase Contract contains no provision which makes Mr. Fountain's signature a condition

precedent to acceptance by SKL. There is no provision in the Purchase Contract which states when Mr. Fountain must return the executed Purchase Agreement to SKL. There is nothing in the Purchase Contract which indicates that it is but a mere offer to Ray Fountain.

On February 28, 2007, Mr. Fountain signed the Purchase Agreement and returned it to SKL, along with his February payment of \$300.00.

On March 1, 2007, SKL entered into another Purchase Contract, this time with Alton Hall, for the purchase price of \$3,500.00, which was tendered by Mr. Hall in one lump sum. (Record, p. 57). Also, purportedly on March 1, 2007, SKL drafted a letter to Mr. Hall informing him that the property in question had been sold to another individual "due to the fact that no signed contract has been received for this property." (Record, p. 58). This letter is unsigned, and there was no testimony as to when, or if, it was ever mailed to Mr. Fountain. The only evidence of the existence of this letter is that a copy of such a letter was attached as an exhibit, without an affidavit, to Alton Hall's Motion for Summary Judgment. This Motion for Summary Judgment was withdrawn on the same day it was filed.

On March 19, 2007, Mr. Fountain had his March payment hand delivered to SKL. This March payment was received by SKL and accepted by SKL. (Record, page 10).

On March 28, 2007, SKL conveyed by Quitclaim Deed all of its right, title and interest to the property in question to Alton Hall. Mr. Fountain proceeded to file his Complaint for Specific Performance and Damages on June 22, 2007.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ray Fountain and SKL Investments, Inc. entered into a valid contract to purchase real property. The terms of the agreement were clear: Mr. Fountain would pay SKL \$3000.00 in ten monthly installments, and SKL would quitclaim its interest in the property to Mr. Fountain after receipt of the last payment. The first payment pursuant to this agreement was received, confirmed and accepted by SKL on January 22, 2007. After this agreement was made, and Mr. Fountain tendered his first payment pursuant to the agreement, SKL drafted a Purchase Contract, signed it, and mailed it to Mr. Fountain, who himself signed the Purchase Contract on February 28, 2007 and mailed it to SKL, together with his second monthly payment.

SKL then found a purchaser of the real property in question who would pay more money for the property, and pay the higher amount in one lump sum to SKL. SKL then attempted to rescind its contract with Mr. Fountain by claiming that the Purchase Contract was only an offer to Mr. Fountain, and that Mr. Fountain had to return to the Purchase Contract, signed, to SKL by February 23, 2007. But there is nothing in the Purchase Contract to support SKL's position, which is the position which was adopted by the Chancery Court.

The actions of the parties demonstrate that a valid agreement was entered into between them. They performed pursuant to their agreement. There was no requirement in their agreement that a Purchase Contract be signed. However, a written contract was drafted by SKL, signed by SKL, and mailed to Mr. Fountain. There was no requirement in the Purchase Contract that SKL could rescind their agreement if the Purchase Contract was not signed by a certain date or delivered to it by a certain date. Contracts executed by one party alone and delivered to the second party can be valid, according to the Mississippi Supreme Court, and such is the case at hand. Further, the attempted rescission of the contract by SKL occurred after Mr. Fountain had himself executed the Purchase Contract.

•

-

.

.

2 . : 1 .

÷ ...

÷

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A motion to dismiss under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) challenges the legal sufficiency of the complaint and raises an issue of law." <u>Mieger v. Pearl River County</u>, 986 So.2d 1025, 1026 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Therefore, the trial court's grant or denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo. "When considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the trial judge must accept the allegations in the complaint as true and the motion should not be granted unless it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim." Id.

This Court will not disturb the chancellor's findings of fact unless the findings are "manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." <u>Nichols v.</u> <u>Funderburk</u>, 883 So. 2d 554, 556 (Miss. 2004). An appellate court will review questions of law under a de novo standard. <u>Threlkeld v. Sisk</u>, 992 So. 2d 1232, 1238 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting <u>Keener Props., L.L.C. v. Wilson</u>, 912 So. 2d 954, 956 (Miss. 2005).

### **ARGUMENT**

1. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing this action on a motion to dismiss prior to a hearing on the merits of the Complaint.

"A motion to dismiss under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) challenges the legal sufficiency of the complaint and raises an issue of law." <u>Mieger v. Pearl River County</u>, 986 So.2d 1025, 1026 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Therefore, the trial court's grant or denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo. "When considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the trial judge must accept the allegations in the complaint as true and the motion should not be granted unless it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim." Id.

A valid contract must include the following essential elements: "(1) two or more contracting parties, (2) consideration, (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite, (4) parties with legal capacity to make a contract, (5) mutual assent, and (6) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation." Lanier v. State, 635 So.2d 813, 826 (Miss. 1994).

In the case at hand, the chancellor erred in granting a motion to dismiss. There was a valid contract between Ray Fountain and SKL Investments. Consideration was given by Ray Fountain in the form of payments of money to SKL, and SKL was obligated to tender a quitclaim deed to Mr. Fountain once it received the total of the agreed upon price. The agreement was definite, each party knew what they had bargained for. Each party had the legal capacity to make this agreement. Each party assented to this agreement. Ray Fountain made his first payment even before the Purchase Contract was drafted. The Purchase Contract was signed by SKL Investments, and SKL received and accepted not only the first payment from Mr. Fountain, but the second and third payments from Mr. Fountain. The parties were proceeding with their

agreement exactly as they had bargained to proceed. Finally, there was no legal prohibition from these parties agreeing to a contract for the purchase of real property.

The case at hand is very similar to <u>Austin v. Montgomery</u>, 336 So.2d 745 (Miss. 1976). In <u>Austin</u>, Montgomery filed suit against Austin, seeking specific performance and injunctive relief. Montgomery asserted that he and Austin had entered into a binding contract wherein Montgomery would purchase from Austin his 1973 cotton crop. An agreement was reached, the agreement was reduced to writing, signed by Austin, and delivered to Montgomery. There was a dispute as to whether Montgomery signed the written contract prior to July 28, 1973, the date on which Austin informed Montgomery that he would not sell him his cotton crop. Austin's reason for refusing to sell Montgomery his cotton crop was identical to SKL's reason for attempting to rescind its contract with Ray Fountain: there had been no delivery of a signed contract to Austin.

Austin's argument was that there was no contract, only an offer of a contract, and by refusing to sign a written agreement and deliver it to him, Montgomery had not accepted his offer and there was no contract. However, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that the actions and conduct of the parties indicated that an acceptance by Montgomery had been made, even without a signature on the written contract. In <u>Austin</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court, citing <u>Fanning v</u>. <u>C.I.T. Corporation</u>, 187 Miss. 45, 192 So. 41 (1939), held as follows:

"The rule is that acceptance of a contract as binding upon a party may be shown by his actions, and any definite and unequivocal course of conduct disclosing that the party has acceded or assented to it, is as binding on him as had he endorsed his assent in formal writing. And although he may have stipulated that the contract shall not be binding on him until formally accepted by him in writing, that stipulation may be waived by him and is waived when he acts upon and under the contract by conduct of the nature aforementioned. 1 Restatement, Contracts, § 21 et seq. The conduct of appellee, as shown by the undisputed testimony, brings the contracts within the stated rule."

Fanning v. C.I.T. Corporation, 187 Miss. at 52, 192 So. at 43. (as cited in <u>Austin v. Montgomery</u>, 336 So.2d 745 (Miss. 1976).

1 3

In <u>Austin</u>, the Court went on to hold that contracts executed by one party alone and delivered to the second party are valid, and cited various other jurisdictions which had held the same. <u>Austin</u>, 336 So.2d at 748 (citing Tow <u>v. Miners Memorial Hospital Ass'n., Inc.</u>, 305 F.2d 73 (4th Cir. 1962); <u>R. H. Lindsay Co. v. Greager</u>, 204 F.2d 129 (10th Cir. 1953) cert. den. 346 U.S. 828, 74 S.Ct. 50, 98 L.Ed. 353 (1953); <u>Means v. Dierks</u>, 180 F.2d 306 (10th Cir. 1950); <u>Moss v. Cogle</u>, 267 Ala. 208, 101 So.2d 314 (1958); <u>Sewell v. Dolby</u>, 171 Kan. 640, 237 P.2d 366 (1951); <u>Miller v. Herrmann</u>, 230 Md. 590, 187 A.2d 847 (1963); <u>Ford v. Culbertson</u>, 158 Tex. 124, 308 S.W.2d 855 (1958). Ultimately, the chancellor in <u>Austin</u> granted the relief sought by Montgomery, which was specific performance, and the Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the decision.

As the Chancery Court in the case at hand dismissed the claim on a motion to dismiss, and as there was no evidence or testimony considered, there was no way for the court to determine whether the actions of the parties evidenced the existence of a contract. However, the court was obligated to accept as true the allegations in the Complaint, and the Complaint clearly states that a contract was entered into between SKL and Ray Fountain. Additionally, without any testimony, there was no way for the court to know when the contract was mailed by SKL, and when it was received by Ray Fountain. It is possible that SKL held the Purchase Contract in its possession after it drafted and signed the Purchase Contract, marketed the property in question for a higher bidder, and only sent the Purchase Contract to Mr. Fountain after its attempts to further market the property were unsuccessful. It is possible that Mr. Fountain did not receive the contract until after February 23, 2007, the date the Court held was a cut off period for Mr.

Fountain accepting the Purchase Contract (Record, p. 84). Without any testimony or other evidence, there was simply no way for the court to determine this.

The court erred in not considering the conduct of the parties. The court also erred in holding that there was a requirement that Ray Fountain return a signed copy of the Purchase Contract to SKL by February 23, 2007. The law is clear that a contract can exist when signed by one party only and delivered to another, exactly the scenario here, if the parties' actions indicate that the elements of a contract, cited above, have been met.

# 2. Whether the Chancery Court erred in holding that the Purchase Contract was just an offer from SKL, and that Ray Fountain had to accept this offer prior to February 23, 2007.

In its Judgment, the Chancery Court cites the well known rule that a contract should be construed as written and words should be given their ordinary and properly accepted meaning when they are unambiguous. (Record, page 83, citing <u>Reynolds v. Druetta, et al.</u>, 417 So.2d 917, 918 (Miss. 1982).

However, the court then proceeded to ignore that well known rule and hold that the Purchase Contract signed by SKL was nothing but an offer, and that this offer must be accepted by Ray Fountain prior to February 23, 2007. (Record, p. 84).

There is simply nothing in the Purchase Contract which gives any evidence of this position. The Purchase Contract is clear. SKL agreed to sell the property in question. Ray Fountain agreed to buy the property in question. A definite price was agreed upon. The method of payment of the purchase price was agreed upon. The Purchase Contract even provided for what happens should the payments be late (\$25.00 late fee for payments not received within ten days of the due date, SKL's right to rescind if payments are not received within thirty days of the due date). The Purchase Contract even states that the parties have already begun performing their agreement, as Mr. Fountain had already made the first payment.

In fact, Mr. Fountain had made the first payment prior to the Purchase Contract being drafted and executed by SKL (Record, pages 6, 7). Yet the Chancery Court took the position that, despite the actions of the parties, despite the performance of the parties, despite the clear language of the Purchase Contract, and despite the total absence of any language which makes the contract dependent on anything other than timely payments from Mr. Fountain, the Purchase Contract was a mere offer. The court then goes even further and writes into the contract a

provision which requires Mr. Fountain to accept SKL's "offer" before February 23, 2007. (Record, p. 84).

There are no ambiguities in this Purchase Contract, but if there were any ambiguities, they would be held against its drafter, SKL. <u>Wade v. Selby</u>, 722 So.2d 698, 701 (Miss. 1998). The Purchase Contract is very clear. SKL is selling and Ray Fountain is buying a piece of property in Adams County. The price was agreed upon, the terms of payment were agreed upon, even the penalty provisions for late payment were agreed upon. The parties were performing pursuant to their agreement. The initial payment had been made. The second payment was made within ten days of its due date, so no penalty was due. The third payment was made prior to the due date.

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