# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# NO. 2009-CA-00122

**RAY FOUNTAIN** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

SKL INVESTMENTS, INC., AND ALTON HALL, DVM

**APPELLEES** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# **BRIEF OF APPELLEE ALTON HALL**

# ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

T. Jackson Lyons
T. JACKSON LYONS & ASSOCIATES,
P.A.
P.O. Box 4690
Jackson, Mississippi 39296
Tel. (601) 969-0731
Email appealsinms@bellsouth.net
MSB

Claude Pintard, Jr.
PINTARD & PINTARD
P.O. Box 1065
Natchez, Mississippi 39121
Tel. (601) 445-9800
MSB

#

#### **ISSUES**

Whether the chancellor was correct that the complaint states no set of facts that could lead to relief because it shows that no contract was ever formed between SKL and Fountain due to Fountain's failure to accept the offer within the time provided in the offering document.

Alternatively, assuming *arguendo* that SKL and Fountain entered into a contract for the sale of real property, the question is whether the chancellor's ruling still must be upheld because SKL, under the express terms of the agreement as shown in the complaint, held the power to rescind based on Fountain's admitted failure to make timely payment.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Procedural History

In July of 2007, Fountain filed suit against SKL and Dr. Hall claiming, *inter alia*, that in January of 2007 Fountain and SKL had entered into a "Purchase Contract" for property with a street address of 1 Cornell Street in Natchez. (V. 1: C.P. 1) Instead of fulfilling its obligation to Fountain, he alleges that SKL entered into a contract to sell the property to Dr. Hall. (V. 1: C.P. 2)

For remedy, Fountain asked for specific performance, avoidance of the deed to Hall, and unquantified damages against SKL. (V. 1: C.P. 3) Fountain also asked for "contributory damages" against Dr. Hall. (V. 1: C.P. 3) There is no allegation against Hall that Hall knew of any purported agreement between SKL and Fountain, or that Hall was anything other than a good faith purchaser for value.

dismissed with prejudice. The chancellor specifically noted that Fountain failed to state a claim against Hall. (V. 1: C.P. 84-85, 86) Fountain, represented by current counsel, timely filed his notice of appeal in January, 2009. (V. 1: C.P. 91)

There was a procedural fumble by Fountain at the appellate level. The certificate of compliance with Rule 11(b)(1), Miss.R.App.P., was due on or before January 28, 2009. The Clerk of the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal on February 26, 2009, due to Fountain's failure to deposit the estimated costs and his subsequent failure to respond to the Clerk's deficiency notice. The Notice of Dismissal is found in the trial court's record (V. 1: C.P. 95), and the deficiency notice will be found in the Clerk's file.

Fountain's counsel filed a motion to reinstate the appeal and explained that the Chancery Clerk had been tardy in supplying an estimate, but that the costs had been paid. (V. 1: C.P. 96) The record totals 119 pages and Rule 11(b)(1) provides an alternative means to estimate costs. SKL and Hall responded to the motion to reinstate and both argued in essence that a rule not observed, and a rule not enforced, is no rule at all. These responses are not in the record but will, of course, be found in the Clerk's file.

A panel of the Supreme Court, the Hon. James Graves, Jr., presiding, ruled that since the costs had been paid a hearing on the merits should go forward. (V. 1: C.P. 105)

#### B. Facts

Since the case was dismissed on the pleadings, the only facts available are

if Fountain did not meet his obligations. Fountain's complaint admits that he did not make a timely payment and that SKL rescinded, refunded Fountain's payments, and sold the property to Dr. Hall.

There is, however, one preliminary matter. In his blue brief Fountain states that the "agreement between Mr. Fountain and SKL was entered into prior to January 23, 2007, and the Purchase Contract memorialized the previous agreement of the parties." (Blue brief at 2) There are no record citations for this or similar statements (see blue brief at 4). Fountain appears to rely for support of the statements in his brief on his complaint's averment that "[o]n January 23, 2007, Defendant SKL Investments, Inc. entered into a Purchase Contract with Plaintiff, Ray Fountain, for the purchase of realty located in Adams County . . .." Fountain states in the blue brief at 11, "the [chancellor] was obligated to accept as true the allegations in the Complaint, and the Complaint clearly states that a contract was entered into between SKL and Ray Fountain."

The conclusory assertion that a contract was formed is a legal conclusion "masquerading as [a] factual [statement that] will not suffice to defeat a motion to dismiss." *Ellis*, 997 So.2d at 999 ¶ 7. The complaint is devoid of details about when, where, and how the putative contract was formed – whether on January 23, 2007, as the complaint alleges, or before that date as the blue brief claims.

The complaint does not state or describe any negotiations; the complaint does not state or describe any verbal agreement that was then memorialized in writing. Instead, Fountain's complaint relies upon the statements found in the

document attached to the complaint to establish a subsisting contract.<sup>1</sup> The Court should ignore the revisionist reasoning offered in the blue brief because it does not comport with the actual allegations in the complaint and the attached documents nor can the complaint now be amended via an appellate brief.

Turning to the first issue, the complaint requests specific performance of a contract for sale of land. It is fundamental that there first must be a contract in existence for which specific performance may lie. The fundamentals of contract formation are, of course, an offer, acceptance of the offer within the offer's terms, and consideration flowing between the parties. *Scott v. Magnolia Lady, Inc.*, 843 So.2d 94, 96 (Miss.App. 2003). The question is whether Fountain's acceptance on February 28, 2007, of an offer stating – in underlined bold type – that payment was due on February 23, 2007, was effective to form the contract.

The terms used within the document to describe what it is are internally consistent. The final paragraph, in bold type, states that it is an "offer." Further, it self-referentially states that the document is a "proposed sale" from which it may "refund and withdraw" at any time unless good funds have been "received, confirmed, and accepted." These words are not inconsistent with the title,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As required by Rule 10, Miss.R.Civ.P., Fountain attached a copy of the instrument upon which he based his allegations to the complaint. A document attached to a pleading under Rule 10 becomes "a part [of the pleading] for all purposes." A document attached to a pleading does not convert a motion to dismiss to a Rule 56 motion inasmuch as "matters outside the pleadings" are not being presented. Rule 12(c), Miss.R.Civ.P.; see, Sennett v. United States Fidelity and Guar. Co., 757 So.2d 206, 209-10 (Miss. 2000)(concern over matters outside of the complaint not providing adequate notice to plaintiff dissipate where plaintiff has relied on documents to frame complaint; no reasoned basis to convert Rule 12 motion into one under Rule 56).

The Court should hold that, as in *Magnolia Lady*, the offering document here stated that it was on "offer" and a "proposed sale" and emphatically required payment by February 23, 2007. Also similar to *Magnolia Lady*, the "Purchase Contract" was tentative because it stated the terms of the proposed sale: payment by the due date. Fountain's signing the document and mailing it and funds on February 28, 2007, five days after the due date, was not an acceptance within the terms of the proposed sale. Fountain cannot create a contract by altering the terms of SKL's offer and then purporting to accept what amounts to his own offer.<sup>2</sup>

In his complaint and the blue brief Fountain mentions that there are "grace periods" in the contract with the implicit suggestion that his late payment was within the confines of these time lines. This averment necessarily assumes that he may take advantage of contract provisions. Fountain cannot prove, under any facts stated or reasonably implied from his complaint, that a contract existed. It is fundamental that to claim benefit of a contract's provisions there must first be an enforceable contract.

The provision for a late fee to be charged by SKL is not a contract "right" for the buyer that creates a reciprocal obligation for SKL. In other words, the document does not state that SKL has the obligation to allow a buyer to pay late if

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As for the \$300.00 previously deposited with SKL, under Mississippi law the receipt or deposit of a check, without more, does not constitute an acceptance of an offer. *Houston Dairy, Inc. v. John Hancock Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 643 F.2d 1185, 1187 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981), *citing Becker v. Clardy*, 96 Miss. 301, 51 So. 211 (1910); see also, *Austin v. Padgett*, 678 So.2d 1002, 1004 (Miss. 1996)(receipt and retention of unsigned note and checks not acceptance of settlement offer as a matter of law). Fountain's assertion that the contract was formed with his deposit – which he admits occurred prior to SKL's offering document being written – is not correct.

the buyer exercises the right to pay late by paying a fee. Rather, it is a penalty that SKL has the right to exact – and that the buyer has the corresponding obligation to pay.

Research has not revealed any Mississippi cases – other than those cited above relating to option agreements – having decided whether a purported acceptance of an offer past the time when acceptance was required operates as an effective acceptance. The trial court cited general contract law from 17A Am.Jur. 2<sup>nd</sup>, *Contracts* § 76. (V. 1: C.P. 84) The specific issue of whether an acceptance delivered past the time contained in the offer for acceptance has been addressed by other appellate courts.

The Georgia high court has stated that "[u]nlike performance of an existing contract which must be completed within a reasonable time, an offer must be accepted as made and any change as to time of performance converts the purported acceptance into a counter offer." *Benton v. Shiver*, 254 Ga. 107, 326 S.E.2d 756 (1985).

Similar to this case, Benton "accepted" Ms. Shiver's offer but wanted to make a later payment. The Georgia Supreme Court, speaking *per curiam* in a single page two paragraph opinion, drily noted that "the date of receipt of consideration [] is important to a seller." *Id.* In similar circumstances, the Supreme Court of Oregon was equally succinct: "The document here specifically provided: 'Escrow to be closed on October 1, 1986.' We find that to be a condition of [the] offer, and that the offer terminated after that date. Any attempt by [the offerees] to

accept [the] offer after October 1, 1986, was a counter-offer because such 'acceptance' necessarily would have involved a closing date different from that specifically stated in [the] offer." *Heinzel v. Backstrom*, 310 Or. 89, 97, 794 P.2d 775 (1990).

Fountain relies on *Austin v. Montgomery*, 336 So.2d 745 (Miss. 1976), to support his argument that he and SKL entered into an executory contract. (Blue brief at 10-12) *Austin* is distinguishable. First it is a UCC case involving the sale of goods between merchants. The modern version of the law merchant has specific rules that apply to merchants involved in the sale of goods. "A contract for sale of goods may be made in any manner sufficient to show agreement, including conduct by both parties which recognizes the existence of such a contract. [] An agreement sufficient to constitute a contract for sale may be found even though the moment of its making is undetermined." *Id.* at 747-48, *quoting* Miss. Code Ann. § 75-2-204, as enacted in 1976.

Contrary to the revisionist assertions in the blue brief at 11-12, Fountain's complaint does not claim a contract was formed between himself and SKL based on a course of conduct or course of dealing. No facts based on a course of conduct or dealing are stated in the complaint. Fountain obviously had an opportunity to request leave to amend his complaint and did not do so. The only complaint before the Court relies solely on the documents attached to the complaint – the "Purchase Contract" and payment schedule – to establish a contract between Fountain and SKL. As noted *supra*, a party cannot amend a complaint through an appellate

brief.

Here, to use the UCC's terms, the "moment of [the contract's] making" is expressly stated in the Purchase Contract: it is an offer of a proposed sale that requires payment by February 23, 2007. As the face of the complaint shows, the payment was not made on that date. In *Austin* the parties' agreement – set out in relevant part in the margin<sup>3</sup> – contains no provision for the timing of payment; it does not state that it is an "offer" of a "proposed sale." It is true as Fountain points

[Austin] agrees to practice normal good farming methods as to cultivation, harvesting, and handling said cotton and to harvest, gin and store the cotton in a bonded warehouse as rapidly as possible. . . . [] Cotton to be defoliated before picking, and all available cleaning equipment at gin to be used . . . [] All samples to be delivered to V & M Cotton Company. [] All Cotton harvested by hand or spindle picked-no ground machine or stripper cotton acceptable on this contract. [] Official Government class card determines class of cotton and the Compress receiving date on receipt determine date. [] V & M Cotton Co. agrees to pay [Austin] prices as listed below, net weights, FOB Compress, for all and only cotton produced on the above mentioned farm or farms.

30.00 cents for all cotton with micronaire 3.3-5.2

29.00 cents for all cotton with micronaire 5.3 & up

28.00 cents for all cotton with micronaire 3.0-3.2

28.00 cents for all cotton 3.0 & up and reduced in grade a/c grass or bark

26.00 cents for all other cotton and any cotton harvested after 12/7/73

20.00 cents for all Below Grades

[Austin] agrees to pay transportation cost of the cotton to the compress and to pay the first's month storage and Cotton Board Fees, and a commission of \$1.25 per bale to be deducted.

Id. at 752.

 $<sup>^3</sup>$ This contract, entered into between Austin Farms . . . and V & M Cotton Co. . . . covers cotton produced by [Austin] for the 1973 crop year. [Austin] agrees to sell all and only the cotton produced from approximately 2,500 acres planted in cotton for the 1973 crop year . . . .

out that Austin, the seller who signed the document, claimed that he did not need to perform where the buyer failed to sign the contract by the time the seller attempted to rescind.

But it is the dissimilarity of the documents in that case and this one that is relevant here, not the similarity of the parties' relative positions. The Court is asked to interpret a written document's words under Mississippi's rules to decide whether a contract was ever formed, not whether both cases involve the claim that a defaulting seller is being sued for breach of contract. Aside from a superficial resemblance to some facts and arguments in this case, *Austin* is irrelevant because the documents are entirely different.

The face of the Complaint shows that Fountain did not accept SKL's offer within the terms of the offer: Fountain did not attempt to accept it until the time for performance under the offer had elapsed. There is no set of facts that Fountain can show that would rebut his failure – shown on the face of the Complaint – to remit funds by the date required in the document.

The Court should affirm the late chancellor's ruling.

C. Alternatively, Fountain's reliance on a document that expressly states SKL may rescind and refund "at any time" if good funds are not timely received is misplaced where Fountain's complaint admits that he failed to make payment as required by the contract and his complaint shows that SKL rescinded and refunded.

It is an appellate common-place that "[a]n appellate court may affirm a trial court if the correct result is reached, even if the trial court reached the result for the wrong reasons." *Methodist Hosp. of Hattiesburg, Inc. v. Richardson*, 909 So.

2d 1066, 1070 ¶7 (Miss. 2005), citing Puckett v. Stuckey, 633 So. 2d 978, 980 (Miss. 1993). The Supreme Court of Mississippi, relying on federal procedural law, has stated that an "appellate court does not have to affirm a decision on a [motion for judgment as a matter of law] for the same reasons that persuaded the court below to grant the motion. On the contrary, it can find another ground for concluding that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law and ignore any erroneous basis that the [trial court] may have employed." Brocato v. Mississippi Publishers Corp., 503 So. 2d 241, 244 (Miss. 1987).

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